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The town of Jordan Valley stretches along Highway 95 in Oregon’s High Desert. At an elevation of
4,385 feet, the town is on the north side of Jordan Creek, a tributary of the Owyhee River. Located
on a volcanic plateau, Jordan Valley was shaped by volcanic eruption about 150,000 years ago.
Jordan Craters, about thirty miles to the north, is a volcanic field that exhibits pahoehoe basalt, dark
basalt characterized by a smooth, billowy, or ropy surface. Mining and ranching form the economic
foundation of the town and the surrounding area. 

The Northern Paiute, traditionally semi-nomadic bands, traveled to the mountains or streambeds
near present-day Jordan Valley to follow food sources, gathering nuts, fruits, berries, and eggs and
hunting deer, geese, and bear. After contact with white settlers, competition for resources led to the
Snake War (1864-1868), a series of skirmishes in which 1,762 men were killed, wounded, or
captured on both sides. The war and the removal of Natives to a reservation in 1868 resulted in the
death of two-thirds of the Northern Paiute people.

Non-Native settlement in the area began with the discovery of gold in May 1863 along Jordan
Creek, a tributary of the Owyhee River that was named for Michael M. Jordan, the mining party’s
leader. Placer mines, underground mines, and mills in the Owyhee watershed yielded $40 million in
gold and silver over the next fifty years. Among the early miners was Jean Baptiste Charbonneau,
who had been on the Lewis and Clark Expedition as a child and traveled to the area from California.
He died of pneumonia in May 1866 and is buried at Inskip Stage Station (present-day Danner). 

In 1865, Silas Skinner built a toll road to pack in supplies for miners and to transport gold and silver
to the West Coast. The road began in Ruby City, Idaho, a mile from Silver City, a booming mining
community in southwestern Idaho's Owyhee Mountains. Continuing to Trout Creek and through the
town of Jordan Valley to Ruby Ranch, sixteen miles to the west, the road ended at Duncan’s Ferry
at the junction of Jordan Creek and the Owyhee River. Workers dug the road by hand and in
several places cut or blasted through lava (portions of the road lie under Highway 95).

The Skinner Toll Road, which opened on May 19, 1866, connected to a road to Chico, California,
and then to San Francisco; freight could be transported between Silver City and Chico in a week.
Contemporaneously, Skinner and a partner finished the Reynolds Creek Road, a toll road that
extended from Ruby City north toward the Snake River, where freight could be floated on the
Columbia River to the coast. Gradually, more traffic from Silver City traveled the Skinner Toll Road
and on the Sacramento River than on the Columbia.

The town of Jordan Valley was established along the Skinner Toll Road about three miles west
of the Idaho state line. Among the first residents was John Baxter, whose cabin served as an inn,
store, and post office, established on February 13, 1867. Miners stopped in the town on their way to
boomtowns such as Silver City and DeLamar, a few miles to the east in present-day Idaho. The
town was also known as Stringtown because the earliest buildings were built along the road; Dog
Town due to the dogs running loose in the town; and Baxterville, after John Baxter. Jordan Valley
was incorporated on March 21, 1911.

While the population in Silver City and other boomtowns declined when the mines began to fail in
1875, Jordan Valley survived because of cattle ranching. The public land in southeastern Oregon
provided range for stock and encouraged large herds of cattle and sheep. Eleven ranches were
operating in the Jordan Valley area by 1867, and local cattleman Cornelius “Con” Shea drove
Texas Longhorns to the area two years later.

The earliest Basques in Jordan Valley were probably Antone Azcuenaga and José Navarro, who
arrived in 1889, initiating an immigration pattern that was repeated by Basques over the next forty
years. Recent immigrants signed on as sheepherders for local ranchers. The herders, who
generally knew no English, worked alone, living in sheepherder wagons and staying in one of three
Basque boarding houses when they were in town and, after 1915, playing handball on the pelota
fronton court. Many herders eventually acquired ranches, and those who returned to their native
Basque province to marry often encouraged younger relatives to emigrate. By the 1920s, Basques



comprised about two-thirds of Jordan Valley’s population of 355. Although admired for their
industrious, honest, and hard-working way of life, Basques occasionally fell victim to discrimination
as the most recent non-English-speaking immigrants in the area.

This pattern was interrupted after the Taylor Grazing Act, passed in 1934, required permits that
favored those ranchers who did not need the use of rangeland in all seasons. With that change,
immigration of Basques to the area slowed, and cattle replaced sheep on the range. The economy
of Jordan Valley is now based on cattle ranching and wheat and grain farming.

Jordan Valley’s population was about 376 in 1990. Between 1993, when the Kinross DeLamar Mine
reopened, and 1999, when the mine closed, the population grew to 446 (the town had 376
residents in 1990). By 2016, Jordan Valley had a population of about 175 residents. Tourism
continues to be important to the area, with visitors attending the annual Jordan Valley Big Loop
Rodeo, exploring historical sites and geological features, rafting on the Owyhee River, and fishing
and hunting.
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